
MORGAN COUNTY COMMISSION 

A G E N D A
October 17, 2023 

5:00 PM 

150 East Washington Street, Madison, GA 

2nd Floor Board Room 

Pledge and Invocation 

Agenda Approval 

Presentations 
1. Proclamation-Retired Educators Day-pg. #2
2. Farmland Protection-Christine Watts & Robert Trulock

Minutes 
3. September 19, 2023 BOC Meeting-pg. #3

Planning Commission New Business 
4. Horace Guinn is requesting a variance to the regulations for a family burial plot for 2.994 acres 

located at 1121 Guinn Road (Tax Parcel 043-079)-pg. #7
5. Georgia Safari & Conservation Park is requesting conditional use approval for a zoo facility on a 

combined total of 436.5 acres located at 1761 Monticello Highway (Tax Parcels 037D-014, 038- 
003A, 038-002A)-pg. #18

New Business 
6. FY24 Aging Services Contract with NEGRC-pg. #38
7. GA Food Services Contract for SFY24-pg. #88
8. Purchase of Trailer-pg. #93
9. Windsor Creek Quit-Claim Deed-pg. #94
10. Budget Amendment for Animal Services-pg. #98
11. Charter Broadband Infrastructure Agreement Amendment-pg. #99
12. ACCG Retirement Plan Addendum-pg. #106
13. Library Board Vacancy-pg. #107
14. Elections Board Vacancy-pg. #111
15. Public Comments on Agenda Items

16. Commissioner Comments

1



 

PROCLAMATION 

RETIRED EDUCATORS DAY 
 

WHEREAS, the Governor of the State of Georgia has proclaimed the day of Sunday, 

November 5, 2023, as Retired Educators Day in Georgia; and 

 

WHEREAS, there are more than 142,000 retired educators in Georgia, 32,000 plus of 

whom are members of the Georgia Retired Educators Association; and 

 

WHEREAS, retired educators of Georgia donate thousands of hours of volunteer service 

and make invaluable contributions to the welfare of their respective communities across 

the state; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is appropriate that a day be designated for citizens to express their 

appreciation for the contributions that retired educators have made, and continue to make 

for the betterment of human lives and for society; and 

 

WHEREAS, local churches will recognize those lasting contributions made by retired 

educators in this community; now 

 

THEREFORE, the Morgan County Board of Commissioners do hereby proclaim the 

day of November 5, 2023, as “RETIRED EDUCATORS DAY” and I call upon the 

citizens of Morgan County to observe that day in an appropriate manner honoring retired 

educators. 

 

GIVEN UNTO MY HAND AND SEAL at Morgan County, Georgia on this 17th day of 

October 2023. 

      

  

      ______________________________ 

      Ben Riden, Chairman 

      Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

     

      ATTEST: 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Leslie Brandt, County Clerk 

2



September 19, 2023 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN REGULAR SESSION.  

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Ben Riden, Jr., Vice-Chair Bill Kurtz, Commissioners Philipp von 

Hanstein, Donald Harris, and Blake McCormack. 

 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, Assistant County Manager Mark Williams, 

County Attorney Christian Henry, and County Clerk Leslie Brandt.       

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 

 

AGENDA APPROVAL 
  

Motion by Commissioner McCormack, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the 

agenda as presented. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

MINUTES 
September 05, 2023 BOC Meeting 

 

Motion by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the minutes as 

presented. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN PROPOSAL  

The county currently has two different retirement plans - a frozen defined benefit (DB) plan and 

an active defined contribution (DC) plan. The proposal before the Board is to modify our 

retirement benefit plans by eliminating the current DC plan and moving all current DC employees 

and new employees as of 01/01/2024 over to a hybrid retirement plan consisting of both a DB 

and DC component for county employees. ACCG Retirement Field Services Manager, Greg 

Gease presented the proposed plans to the Board.  

 

If the Board wishes to formally make changes to the retirement plan, authorizing resolutions will 

be presented at the October 17, 2023 board meeting for approval. 

 

3



September 19, 2023 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Motion by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner von Hanstein to authorize ACCG 

to draw up the necessary resolutions for the proposed plan changes for consideration at the 

October 17, 2023 Board Meeting. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

5311 GRANT APPLICATION 

The 5311 Grant is the support Morgan County Transit receives from the Federal Transit 

Administration (FTA) through the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT). The 

application presented today is an annual requirement to continue receiving funding assistance. 

 

Motion by Commissioner McCormack, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the 

resolution authorizing the filing of the application and authorize the Chairman to sign all grant 

applications, certificates, and award documents as presented.  Motion Passed Unanimously.  

 

PORTER-TAX REFUND REQUEST 

Attorney Lee M. Abney, representing Sarah H. Porter spoke before the Board to request a refund 

for penalties paid in relation to a conservation breach for tax years 2014-2022 (tax map 060, 

parcel 058). 

 

The application for the tax refund request submitted by Attorney Abney states that Ms. Porter is 

seeking a refund of the penalty paid in relation to an alleged conservation breach for tax years 

2014-2022 in the amount of $33,217.66. The summary statement for the grounds upon which the 

taxpayer relies for the refund is as follows:  

 

On April 14, 2022, Sarah H. Porter visited the tax assessor's office and asked a series of questions 

regarding the potential sale of her property to Atkinson Developments, LLC.  She informed Eddie 

Tolbert that she was over 65 years old, and it was her understanding that she could sell the 

property without a conservation use breach. She was informed that due to these circumstances, 

she could sell the property without penalty, and she was "good to go." She again inquired if she 

would be penalized and was told, “you are good to go and sell.” She then asked if she was 

required to sign documentation and was again told, “you are good to go and sell.”  In reliance 

upon this meeting, Ms. Porter sold her property under the belief she would have a non-penalty 

breach as discussed. 

 

On April 22, 2022, Sarah H. Porter sold her property to Atkinson Developments, LLC.  On July 

11, 2023, she received a call from the Tax Commissioner. After discussing the matter with her, 

she was transferred to the Tax Assessor who informed her verbally she had breached her 

conservation use covenant. She has not received any communication in writing regarding this 

matter, or been given a time period to appeal any decision made regarding her alleged breach as 

required by O.C.G.A. section § 48-5-7.4(k.1): 

 

"(k.1) In the case of an alleged breach of the covenant, the owner shall be notified in writing by 

the board of tax assessors.    The owner shall have a period of 30 days from the date of such 

notice to cease and desist the activity alleged in the notice to be in breach of the covenant or to 

remediate or correct the condition or conditions alleged in the notice to be in breach of the 

covenant.    Following a physical inspection of property, the board of tax assessors shall notify 

the owner that such activity or activities have or have not properly ceased or that the condition 

or conditions have or have not been remediated or corrected. The owner shall be entitled to appeal 

the decision of the board of tax assessors and file an appeal disputing the findings of the board 

of tax assessors.  Such appeal shall be conducted in the same manner that other property tax 

appeals are made pursuant to Code Section 48-5-31 I.   J f the final determination on appeal to 

superior court is to reverse the decision of the board of tax assessors to enforce the breach of the 

covenant, the taxpayer shall recover costs of litigation and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in 

the action." 

 

Tax Assessor representative, Eddie Tolbert addressed the Board. Tolbert gave the Board a copy 

of Rule 560-11-6-.04 Applications for conservation use property: 

(8) When property receiving current use assessment and subject to a conservation use 

covenant is transferred to a new owner and the new owner fails to apply for continuation 

4



September 19, 2023 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

of the current use assessment on or before the deadline for filing tax returns in the year 

following the year in which the transfer occurred, such failure may be taken by the board 

of tax assessors as evidence that a breach of the covenant has occurred. In such event the 

board of tax assessors shall send to both the transfer or and the transferee a notice of the 

board's intent to assess a penalty for breach of the covenant. The notice shall be entitled 

"Notice of Intent to Assess Penalty for Breach of a Conservation Use Covenant". 

 

Tolbert stated he first met with Ms. Porter in April 2022 to discuss options to sell land she 

currently had in the CUVA program. He explained her option to get out of her conservation 

agreement based on her age, and that if she chose this option, she would begin paying fair market 

value on her property. Per Tolbert, Ms. Porter declined this option. She informed him that she 

wanted to sell 20 acres of her 35-acre tract. Tolbert informed her if she sold 20 acres from her 

35-acre parcel, that it would be enough acreage to qualify it to be a stand-alone parcel as a CUVA 

piece.  However, the new owner would need to qualify for CUVA the same way she did. Failure 

of the new owner to continue the CUVA would result in a breach. This breach would fall back 

on the original property owner because they signed the original agreement stating the total 

acreage would remain in conservation untouched for 10 years. In Ms. Porter’s case, the new 

property owner failed to continue the conservation on their 20-acre tract which resulted in a 

breach. 

 

Ms. Porter stated her husband previously handled the conservation use on their property and that 

she didn’t know much about the program. She also said that when she sold the land, she had no 

intention of defrauding the county. She visited the Tax Assessor’s office to see what steps she 

needed to take to sell her land and was told she was good to go. Ms. Porter said she was not made 

aware that the new owner had to continue the conservation on the 20-acre parcel she sold. 

 

Motion by Commissioner von Hanstein, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the refund 

for the amount of the penalty paid, except for the difference between the current use valuation 

and fair market valuation of the year of the breach.  Commissioner Harris voted in favor of the 

motion and Commissioner McCormack voted against the motion. Motion Passed 3-1. 

 

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE FOR THE GENERAL STORE AT 4420 

BUCKHEAD ROAD 

The General Store at 4420 Buckhead Road has been sold to a new owner, Mohammad Farid. He 

has applied for a business license and has applied for his alcoholic beverage license. Mr. Farid 

has met all of the requirements to qualify for an alcoholic beverage license. 

 

Motion by Commissioner Kurtz, Seconded by Commissioner McCormack to approve the 

alcoholic beverage license for the General Store. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

PROPERTY TO DECLARE SURPLUS 

 
 

5



September 19, 2023 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

Motion by Commissioner McCormack, Seconded by Commissioner von Hanstein to approve 

the items to be declared surplus and sold/disposed of.  Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 

Robert Bailey, Morgan County Resident and County Chief Appraiser commented on the Porter 

tax refund request. 

JoEllen Artz, a Rutledge resident commented on the Porter tax refund request.  

 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

Commissioners made comments and gave updates on Liaison assignments. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner McCormack, seconded by Commissioner Harris to exit regular 

session at 6:26 p.m. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION- POTENTIAL LITIGATION  

 

MOTION by Commissioner McCormack, seconded by Commissioner Harris to enter Executive 

Session to discuss potential litigation at 6:35 p.m. Motion Passed Unanimously. (Original signed 

Affidavit in Executive Session Legal Requirement Book). 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to exit Executive Session 

and adjourn at 7:49 p.m. Motion Passed Unanimously. 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Ben Riden, Jr., Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk       

6



 
 

1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 1181 Guinn Road  

Property tax parcel: 043-079  

Acreage: 2.94 acres  

Applicant: Horace Guinn 

Property Owner: Horace Guinn 

Existing Use: Single Family Dwelling   

Variance: Single Family Dwelling with family cemetery  

 

Summary 

        
 
Horace Guinn 
is requesting 
a variance to 
the 
regulations 
for a family 
burial plot. 
The applicant 
wants to 
locate the 
cemetery on a 
small part of 
his 2+ acre 
parcel that 
was divided 
when Guinn 
Road was 
installed. The 
section of the 
parcel, 
labeled with 
the red star, is 
.75 acres. 

Petition for:  Variance-Regulations for Family Burial Plots 

        

7



 
 

2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

The applicant owns three parcels for a total 
of 19.95 acres. He also lists another 1 acre 
land-locked parcel on his application, 
although the Tax Assessors show it is 
owned by another person (also a Guinn).  
 
The parcels are oddly shaped with 2 
streams, making it impossible for the 
applicant to meet the regulations for 
setbacks associated with family burial 
plots.  The ordinance language, recently 
updates, requires 200’ from water, 100’ 
from any residence, 50’ from any other 
structure, and 50’ from any property line. 
The proposed area for the cemetery 
contains a tool shed and has an 
encroaching manufactured home from the 
adjacent parcel. However, the applicant 
says the .75 acre area, due to size and 
location, is basically useless for anything 
else.   
 
The applicant’s surveyor provided two 
drawings, one showing what was 
requested and one showing the property 
with the required setbacks. 
 

 
Both drawings are attached to this staff report.  
 
The diagram shown at left is the depiction of the 
cemetery size if the setback were met, showing 50’ from 
property lines and from the tool shed, and 100’ from the 
encroaching manufactured home. The result is a triangle 
that is, perhaps, 10’ across at the top.  
 
The requested variances are to allow the tool shed to be 
inside the cemetery and a 50’ setback from the 
manufactured home. He is also requesting a 5’ property 
line setback on the entire periphery of the property, 
excepting where the manufactured home encroaches. 
This would leave a .48 acre cemetery. The applicant 
questioned why a large setback was necessary from the 
road when other cemeteries in the county are near roads.  
These requests, however, vary every setback in the family 
burial plot ordinance, with the exception of the water 
setback, which doesn’t apply. The parcel is also smaller 
than the required 5 acres. 

8



 
 

3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 
Complicating 
the 
conversation 
about a family 
cemetery is that 
the Guinn family 
already has a 
family cemetery 
1,000 feet from 
the proposed 
cemetery, 
marked with the 
pink cross on 
the aerial photo. 
The Guinn 
Family 
Cemetery is .4 
acres and was 
included in the 
2007 Morgan 
County 
Cemetery 
Survey. The 
applicant 
admitted that 
the cemetery 
was supposed to 
be utilized by his 
family, but 
indicated that it 
was not feasible 
now. Staff asked 
if it would be 
possible to 
enlarge the 
existing 
cemetery, which 

already does not meet the regulations, but was created prior to the creation of the family burial plot 
ordinance. The applicant indicated that was not possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



 
 

4 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
From the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance. Section 20.3.1, Required Findings for Variance Approval: 

1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the property because of shape, 

size or topography and there is no feasible alternative; circumstances surrounding the request 

are not the result of acts of previous owners or of the applicant; 

2. The literal interpretation of the provisions of this ordinance would create an unnecessary 

hardship or practical difficulty that renders it impossible to carry out the provisions of this 

ordinance. Such hardship does not include a financial hardship in that if the variance were 

granted, the applicant could receive a higher rate of financial return on the use of the property 

and without the variance, a lesser but still reasonable return could be realized; 

3. The variance requested is the minimum variance that will make possible the proposed use of the 

land, building or structure in the zoning district in which the development is proposed. The use 

must be permitted in the zoning district where proposed; and 

4. Relief, if granted, will be in harmony with the purpose and intent of these regulations and will 

not be injurious to the neighborhood or general welfare in such a manner as will interfere with 

or discourage the appropriate development and use of adjacent land and buildings or 

unreasonably affect their value. 

 

Staff Comments 

        
 Although the request is understandable, granting it would set a precedent. The applicant requested 

what he preferred but is amenable to changes suggested by the boards to enlarge setbacks if a useable 

area is left for the burial plot.  

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



 
 

1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 1761 Monticello Highway    

Property tax parcel: 037D-014, 038-003A, 038-002A  

Acreage: 436.5 acres (county only)  

Applicant: Georgia Safari & Conservation Park  

Applicant’s Agent:    

Property Owner: J&J Safari Land, LLC, J&J Conrads Farm, LLC & J&J Clack Tract, LLC 

Existing Use: Zoo Facility construction underway 

Proposed Use: Zoo Facility   

 

Summary 

Zoo Facilities were first discussed by the Morgan County Planning Commission when the text 

amendment to add regulations and a conditional use application for the first proposed zoo location on 

south Highway 83, near Williams Dairy, were heard in June of 2013. In subsequent years, the zoo team 

requested additional ordinance language and a different location. In 2017, and again in 2020, the 

applicant was granted an extension on their conditional use approvals to prevent yearly applications. 

The conditions set to prevent the need for re-application included that Phase 1 of the walk-through park 

and of the safari had to be open to the public.  

 

The applicant received building permits in 2021 but changed course due to research and funding. 

Building permits were issued in 2023 and construction of the giraffe and rhino barn is actively underway. 

Lodging, as well as the main lodge with eating facility, is expected to be completed in October. The 

entrance has been moved north on Highway 83, although the long-term plan is to eventually utilize the 

originally planned entrance. The applicant intends to open the safari park and a reduced size walk-

though park, with 6 lodging units in January 2024. However, their conditional use approval is expiring.  

 

The applicant is requesting that their conditional use for a zoo facility be approved with the same 

conditions placed on their last approval in 2020: 

1. Allow a delay in the parking lot paving until the end of phase one.  
2. Elimination of the barbed wire requirements for the perimeter fence; 
3. Allow use of regular cattle fence where domestic animals will be kept; 
4. Allow the use of existing buffers not located on the applicant’s property; if existing buffers are 
removed, a compliant buffer must be installed immediately; 
5. Allow planting of buffers as phases develop; allow use of seedlings. If seedling size is not compliant 
when a new phase opens, the buffer must be brought into compliance. The buffer installation between 
the zoo property and the adjacent property (037D-014Z) may wait until the adjacent property is sold or 
developed (with the exception of Phase 1). 

Petition for:  Conditional Use – Zoo Facility 

        

18



 
 

2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

6. No public entrance be allowed on Clack Road; 
7. Written permission be given from neighbors regarding the use of buffers; 
8. Amend the emergency plan to include notification to City of Madison authorities in the event of an 
animal escape. 
9. Lodging is limited to 80 units. 
10. The safari park must be approved and under construction prior to the commencement of 
construction of the walk-through zoo and lodging, which may be constructed concurrently.  
11. Require a 100’ setback with a 50’ planted buffer along the property line adjacent to 
residential property (1390 Clack Road). 

 
The three county parcels are outlined in blue. The new entrance is indicated by the red arrow. 
  

Excerpts from Previous Applications - 2020 

        
Excerpt from August 27, 2020 Planning Commission Minutes 

 

I.  William Killmer, on behalf of the Georgia Safari Conservation Park, is requesting 

conditional use approval for a zoo facility for approximately 436 acres located at 

1881 Monticello Highway (Tax Parcels 038-002A, 038-003A, 037D-014).  

 

II.  William Killmer, on behalf of the Georgia Safari Conservation Park, is requesting  

037D-014 038-003A 

038-002A 

19



 
 

3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

A variance to the time limitation for approval in Section 21.5.8 of the Morgan 

County Zoning Ordinance for property located at 1881 Monticello Highway (Tax 

Parcels 038-002A, 038-033A, 037D-014). 

 

No Staff Report was presented. The Chairman invited the applicant to present his applications. 

William Killmer explained that the requests were identical to those requested in 2017, including 

all conditions assigned to the prior approval. He noted the 3-year variance request included 18 

months for funding acquisition and an 18 month build-out period. He introduced the project’s 

new partner, John Beasley, who spoke briefly about his previous experience with Wakefield 

Beasley Architects and his reasons for joining the project team. The Planning Commission asked 

Mr. Beasley questions about his experience with zoos. Mr. McMahon questioned why the master 

plan submitted by the applicant with previous applications (Staff clarification: no plan was 

submitted with the current application) included a public entrance on Clack Road when one of 

the conditions assigned to the existing conditional use approval was only for a service entrance. 

Mr.  Killmer explained that the current request was only for the service entry and described the 

possibility of seeking a public entrance in the future. He confirmed he was not taking a firm 

stance regarding the Clack Road entrance due to the uncertainty of future phasing. 

  

Greg Hampton spoke in favor of the applications and explained his role as a volunteer with the 

project. He noted the positive impact association with the project has had on his special needs 

son. 

 

Ed Price, 1921 Clack Road, spoke in opposition to the applications and stated the applicants 

should not be allowed more time on the project, as he felt they had failed to follow through on 

past assurances. He inaccurately stated that the county had changed the zoning designation of 

properties on Clack Road, thereby increasing residential density, and accused the Boards of 

irresponsible governance of the zoning ordinance related to time extensions. He noted his 

objections to an entrance on Clack Road, lighting and noise.  He questioned why vegetative 

buffers had not already been planted and why building plans had not been submitted. He 

requested that the Planning Commission recommend denial of the application for a conditional 

use, which would require the applicant to come back after 12 months to request approval again. 

 

Andrew Arnold, 1051 Thankful Road, spoke in opposition to the applications and identified 

himself as a new resident to the area. He requested that the applications be denied so he and 

other residents could participate in the future review process.    

 

The Chairman closed public comments. 

 

The Planning Commission discussed Mr. Price’s accusation related to higher density zoning. A 

member of the public interrupted the Planning Commission’s discussions. The Chairman 

instructed the person to identify himself.  

 

Hunter Jones, 1451 Clack Road, expressed concerns about hunting on his land across Clack 

Road from the proposed zoo property. The Chairman allowed Mr. Killmer to address the 

speaker, who assured him that there would be no issues with hunting on nearby properties, 

provided proper hunting rules are observed. An unidentified woman with Mr. Hunter spoke from 

20



 
 

4 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

the audience and expressed fears of being attacked by zoo animals. Mr. Killmer explained 

fencing requirements.  

 

The Chairman again announced that public comments were closed. 

 

Mr. McMahon expressed concern about the inclusion of an entrance on Clack Road despite the 

condition against it. Mr. Mundrick and Ms. Booth addressed Mr. Killmer, admonishing him to 

consider another way to access the rear of the property. Ms. Heard asked Staff about the concept 

plan and how the entrance shown would be addressed in light of the condition. Staff responded 

that the concept plan was previously approved as part of the application, but the conditions 

applied would mitigate what was shown. Ms. Craft expressed concerns about the length of time, 

noting the generosity of the past variance, and cautioned against continued variances. Ms. 

Dartnell asked Staff for an explanation of how the applicant could proceed without the variance.  

 

Motion:  Mr. Mundrick made a motion to recommend approval of the conditional use request for 

a zoo facility on a total of 436 acres located at 1881 Monticello Highway as presented, with all 

previous conditions.  

Second:  Ms. Booth 

Vote:  7:0 The vote to recommend approval of the conditional use application for a zoo facility at 

1881 Monticello Highway, with all previous conditions, was unanimous. 

   

 Motion:  Mr. Mundrick made a motion to recommend approval of the variance to the time 

limitation for approval in Section 21.5.8 for a period of 18 months.  

Mike Conrads interrupted to ask if the motion could be changed to 18 months if a building 

permit had not been issued; if so, then add an additional 18 months. Mr. Mundrick did not 

change the motion. 

Second:  Ms. Craft 

Vote:  6:1 The vote to recommend approval of the variance request related to time limitation for 

18 months was approved. Mr. McMahon dissented. 
 

Excerpt from September 1, 2020 Board of Commissioners Minutes 

 

WILLIAM KILLMER, ON BEHALF OF THE GEORGIA SAFARI CONSERVATION 

PARK, IS REQUESTING A CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL FOR A ZOO 

FACILITY FOR APPROXIMATELY 436 ACRES LOCATED AT 1881 MONTICELLO 

HIGHWAY (TAX PARCELS 038-002A, 038-003A, 037D-014). 

William Killmer, on behalf of The Georgia Zoo, LLC, is requesting conditional use approval to 

operate a zoo facility on approximately 436 acres in the unincorporated county. 

Senior Planner, Tara Cooner stated this request is for a continuation of a conditional use that 

was approved by the BOC in 2017 to include the existing conditions that were set in 2017. 

They are also requesting a 3-year variance to the time limitation. The 3-year variance request 

is based on 18 months for funding and 18 months for the build out. 

The Planning Commission voted unanimously to approve the conditional use request for the 

zoo facility located at 1881 Monticello Highway with the same conditions that were assigned to 

the approval in 2017. 

Conditions approved with the conditional use from the 10-03-2017 BOC meeting: 

21



 
 

5 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

1. Allow a delay in the parking lot paving until one year after phase one opens 

2. Elimination of the barbed wire requirements for the perimeter fence; 

3. Allow use of regular cattle fence where domestic animals will be kept; 

4. Allow the use of existing buffers not located on the applicant’s property; if existing 

buffers are removed, a compliant buffer must be installed immediately; 

5. Allow planting of buffers as phases develop; allow use of seedlings. If seedling size 

is not compliant when a new phase opens, the buffer must be brought into compliance. 

The buffer installation between the zoo property and the adjacent property (037D-014Z) 

may wait until the adjacent property is sold or developed (with the exception of Phase 

1). 

6. No public entrance be allowed on Clack Road; 

7. Written permission be given from neighbors regarding the use of buffers; 

8. Amend the emergency plan to include notification to City of Madison authorities in 

the event of an animal escape. 

9. Lodging is limited to 80 units. 

10. The safari park must be approved and under construction prior to the 

commencement of construction of the walk-through zoo and lodging, which may be 

constructed concurrently. 

11. Require a 100’ setback with a 50’ planted buffer along the property line adjacent to 

residential property (1390 Clack Road). 

The opening of both the phase 1 safari park and the phase 1 walk-through park will be 

used as an end date for conditional use re-approvals, providing that phase one meets the 

intent of the presented project. The project, after phase 1 opens, must continue to meet 

the intent of the presented project. Any variation from the presented intent will require 

further approval. 

Cooner also stated, the Planning Commission voted 6-1 to grant an 18-month variance. After 

the vote, Mike Conrads requested a provision to the Planning Commissions vote, that if 

construction was under way at the 18-month mark, the approval could be automatically 

extended an additional 18 months without reapplication. The Planning Commission did not 

include the provision in their vote. 

Commissioner Riden expressed concern regarding the ability to obtain funding. 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed proponents to speak: 

Mike Conrads, Morgan County resident and partner of the zoo project, stated they are not 

asking for changes to the original conditional use. All members on their team want the project 

to be completed sooner than later. They have invested hard dollars into the project and are 

ready to have it completed. 

Bill Killmer, Morgan County resident and partner of the zoo project, spoke in favor of the 

project and introduced Brandy Anderson of Marietta and John Beasley of Marietta. 

John Beasley, of Marietta and partner of the zoo project, stated he first got involved in the 

project assisting with the project design. Later on, he became a partner and is committed to the 

project. 

Commissioners then questioned if extending the variance time limitation to 18 months would 

be enough or if three years would be acceptable. 

Planning Director, Chuck Jarrell addressed the Boards concern. Jarrell stated a precedence was 

set in 2017 when the Board extended the time limitation three years. He felt it would be 

understandable to extend another three years, given the time it takes for a project like this. 

22



 
 

6 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed opponents to speak: 

Ed Price, Morgan County resident stated he has no issue with the conditional use staying in 

place. However, he is concerned about the possible disturbance to residents on Clack Road. 

Price stated the petitioners seem to have an entrance on Clack Road in their plans. He 

requested the Board add structures that would have public access be located closer to Hwy. 83 

rather than Clack Road to help alleviate noise and light concerns. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the 

conditional use for the zoo facility located at 1881 Monticello Highway to include the 

conditions that were approved in 2017 by the BOC. Unanimously Approved. 

 

WILLIAM KILLMER, ON BEHALF OF THE GEORGIA SAFARI CONSERVATION 

PARK, IS REQUESTING A VARIANCE TO THE TIME LIMITATION FOR 

APPROVAL IN SECTION 21.5.8 OF THE MORGAN COUNTY ZONING 

ORDINANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1881 MONTICELLO HIGHWAY 

(TAX PARCELS 038-002A, 038-003A, 037D-014). 

Senior Planner, Tara Cooner, discussed the variance request for the zoo facility with the 

previous item, conditional use request. 

This request if for a 3-year variance to the time limitation. The request is based on 18 months 

for funding and 18 months for the build out. 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed proponents to speak: 

Mike Conrads spoke in favor of the variance request. Conrads stated the extra time is needed 

so they do not have to come back in the middle of construction to request more time from the 

Board. They are asking for three years, but only if the building permit is obtained in the next 

18 months. 

Greg Hampton, Covington resident, spoke in favor of the variance. Hampton stated he works 

on the property. He has seen the excitement of children visiting the site, even without much on 

the property yet. He stated the zoo would be a blessing to the community. 

Bill Killmer also informed the Board they are collaborating with the veterinarian school at the 

University of Georgia on a project. 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed opponents to speak: 

Ed Price, Morgan County resident, spoke against the variance request and stated after six and a 

half years with no construction shown, another 3-year extension seems excessive. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, seconded by Commissioner Ainslie to approve the 

variance request for 18 months, that will extend an additional 18 months only if a building 

permit is obtained and twice a year updates are required. Motion passed 3-1 with 

Commissioner Milton voting in favor of the motion and Commissioner Riden voting against. 
 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
Section 21.3.1 Required Findings from Conditional Use Approval from the Morgan County Zoning 

Ordinance (Staff comments in blue): 

1. The proposed use is suitable in view of the use of adjacent and nearby property and the 

proposed use will not affect the existing uses or usability of adjacent or nearby uses; 

23



 
 

7 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

2. The proposed use will not cause an excessive or burdensome use of public facilities or services, 

current or planned, including but not limited to transportation facilities, utilities, educational 

facilities or public safety; 

3. Off street parking and loading will be adequate, ingress and egress are suitable and safe, and 

vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets is not substantially hindered; 

4. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impacts of 

the proposed use; and 

5. The hours and manner of operation, including noise, lighting, glare, odor, site design and scale 

are consistent with adjacent and nearby uses, as long as the manner of operation complies with 

all applicable ordinances and does not constitute a nuisance to nearby and adjacent properties. 

 

Staff Comments 

        
A precedent has been set with the applicant’s numerous approvals in the past.  The project is under 

construction and planned to start accepting reservations for the safari park in August, with intentions in 

open to the public in early 2024. 

 

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114


	Top
	Item1.	Proclamation-Retired Educators Day
	Retired Educators Day 2023

	Item2.	Farmland Protection-Christine Watts & Robert Trulock
	Item3.	September 19, 2023 BOC Meeting Minutes
	9-19-2023 BOC Minutes - Draft

	Item4.	Guinn variance
	september.guinn.var

	Item5.	Zoo conditional use
	september.zoo.cu

	Item6.	FY24 Aging Services Contract with NEGRC 10172023
	FY24 Aging Services Contract with NEGRC

	Item7.	GA Food Services Contract for SFY24 10172023
	GA Food Services Contract for SFY24

	Item8.	Purchase of Trailer
	agenda request - gooseneck trailer

	Item9.	Windsor Creek Quit-Claim Deed
	Windsor Creek Quit Claim

	Item10.	Budget Amendment for Animal Services
	Agenda Request - budget amendment for animal services

	Item11.	Charter Broadband Infrastructure Agreement Amendment
	Charter Amendment

	Item12.	ACCG Retirement Plan Addendum
	ACCG Reitrement Plan Addendum

	Item13.	Library Board Vacancy 10172023
	Library Board Vacancies 10172023

	Item14.	Elections Board Vacancy 10172023
	Elections Board Vacancy

	Item15.	Public Comments on Agenda Items 10172023
	Item16.	Commissioner Comments 10172023
	Bottom



